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1. Mame

historic  Land Bank Building

andior common Riss Building; Henover Building

2. Location

street & number 15 West 10th Street

— hot for publication

city, town Kansas City : — vicinity of
state Missouri code 29 county  Jackson code 095
3. Classification
Category Ownership Status Present Use
— district o public X occupied —— agricuiture ——_ museum
X huilding(s) _x_ private . ungccupied _x_commercial —_park
— structure ____both — work In progress — educational —— private residence
— site Public Acquisition Accessible —_entertainment —religious
— obhject ___ inprocess —X yes: restricted — government —__ scientific
_— beinﬂ considered .. yes: unrestricted —__ industrial ___transportation
X N/ —no — military _x_other: Office

4. Owner of Properiy

name Hadley-McHugh
street & number 15 West 10th Street, Suite 600
city, town Yansas City — vicinity of state Missouri 64105

5. Location of Legal Description

courthouse, registry of deeds, etc. Qffice of Recorder of Deeds, Jackson County
Courtheouse {(Kansas Cizy Annex)
street & numoer 413 Tast 12th Street
city, town Tansas City stale VYissouri
Py Srm D riotiam, .
8. Represeniation in Exisiing Surveys
ritlg  ALSS0uUTL ZTala HisTorizal fura nas this Jroperty Seen determined 21igicie’ ___ yes _--_ no
date T ___‘egerai _-_ stats sounty ‘ocai
: Tirszcori CaserTmess o Tatural Zassurces. T ,0, Iox TR
iepository ‘oc survey racords T T s T Tty on e N coTe T oy *
Tl § o ok Doomami SR




7. Description

Condition Check one Check one
_X_excellent . deteriorated _X_ unaltered _%X _original site
—— good ——ruins w.. altered e moved date
= fair — _ unexposed

Describe the present and original {if knownj physicat appearance

The Land Bank Building, 15 West 10th Street, located in the Central Business District of
Kansas City, Missouri, strongly reflects Italian Renaissance architectural elements in
its design. The building is sited midway along West 10th Street between Baltimore Avenue
and Main Street. The twelve story building (which rises to a height the equivalent of
fourteen stories, as a result of mezzanine levels on the first and twelfth floors), has a
front?ge of thirty-four feet on West 12th Street, and a depth of one hundred and forty
feet,

The steel frame building 1s sheathed with granite on the first through third stories; brick
for the exterior wall of the intervening stories; and terra cotta ornament on the eleventh
and twelfth stories. The primary ornamentation of the building occurs on the first through
third, and eleventh through twelfth stories. It is the articulation of these floors which
establish the Renaisgance Revival stvie and character of the building.

Neo-Classgicism in Kansas City

The decade of the Twenties saw a proliferation of historic eclecticism. Ornamentation
which reflected English Gothic, Renaissance, and Baroque forms was especially popular.2
Terra cotta was a favorite cladding material during this period and was particularly
popular in the construction of high~rise structures. Terra cotta was easily textured,
colored, and ornamented and could be mass produced.3

The Land Bank Building derives its Renaissance stylistic characteristics froam the coursed
stone and prominemt arched entrance of the first and second stories. The strong linear
quality of the stone courses is reminiscent of a 15th Century Italian palazzo, as is the
terra cotta arches and the corbel table superimposed on the eleventh through twelfth
stories.

Exterior - North (Main) Facade

The main entrance to the building is centrally placed and is flanked by two rectangular
windows. The entrance doorway is recessed and is framed by rusticated ashlar surrounds.
The portal terminates in a round arch outlined by radiating stone voussoirs. The lunette
formed in the arch contains glass divided by vertical muntins into three panes. An eagle
carved in stone perches on the lintel between two stone volutes. Two square windows
equipped with metal grates are on either side of the lunette at the mezzanine level. The
first and second stories are veneered in grey granite. A cartouche illustrating the
Missouri state coat-of-arms is affixed directly above the %eystone of the entrance arch,
and stands sut in high relief.

The fenescration of the third through tenth storias consists of reguiariv spaced, one-
aver-one, double hung, sasn windows. The windows possess ilimestone sills om the ©ifth,
saventh, nainth, and alaventh stsries. 4 projecting stringecourse defines the separaczion
=t floors above the third, Siith, savanth, and ainth stories. A wmore pronocunced $Cring-
nourse wnich is bracketed, -rovides she demarvrcaction of the uppermest stories., The
twelfth fleoor is heavily 2rmamenced, and zlong vith the base of the building gives it a
jenaissance 2evival flavor.
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FEast Facade

The granite veneer of the first and second stories is carried through to cne bay on the
east facade. A sequence of three round arched windows which rise from the first through
the mezzanine levels, articulate the building at the fourth, fifth, and sixth bays; or,
approximately the middle of the building. The fenestration, and patterns 2stablished by
the stringcourse on the nerth (main) facade, are identical.

Twelfth Story and Parapet

The twelfth story terminates the building and approximates a height of two stories. It is
characterized by a series of round arches which 'tie" together a pair of rectangular win-
dows which are tiered, one above the other. The crown of the arch is faced with terra
cotta, and a rosette which stands out in relief is located directly below the keystone.

A spiral colonette separates the paired windows. The height established by the incorpor-
ation of a mezzanine level requires that there be two banks of windows, one placed above
the other. 1In order to fill the space, and to add further decoration, terra cotta span-
drels are incorporated between the two vertically stacked windews. The spandrel panels
were specially designed for this building. Relief carvings depicting the Misscuri State
seal, and an eagle which symbolizes the Federal government's involvemeut, alternate across
the building. A corbel table separates the parapet from the remainder of the building.
The parapet wall continues the use of panels with relief carvings that have particular
import to the building's purpose. The entire parapet wall is clad in terra cotta, and
rectangular ""frames" are created between the vertical uprights. Roundels are contained in
each of the panels and represent a profile portrait bust, a sheaf of wheat, and a locomo-
tive, The panels extend around the north and east facades.

Interior

The original materials used in the construction of the Land Bank included a six foot
marble wainscot, and floors finished in terazzo. The ficor spaces were designed to be
free of columns, and each [loor contained approximately 3,800 square feet of usable
area, excluding the elevators, stairways and toilets.

The building contained two electrically operated passenger elevators "...of the latest
voltage type. having a speed of 850 feet per minute." % A freight elevator was installed

in the rear of the huilding.

The fwelZth Iloov 2xhibics a2 dramaric incerizy space.  The 2sgiiing neizht IS 2mphasized
2v the tall windows on =2ither side, which tearminate in a coved z2iling Original light
Jixrures combine to give an impression of the space as it was in -he 1520's The
incarior nas oeen recentiy restored and is in 2xcellenc condition.

Lo2rations <o the Tuiliing. LaT=risr 3ta
~a5ild - - i R - =7 M
teilingg Hircpned. The interior Tlaor oian
AT=22 wnilh 3@rvwa2s Tae Mmultinlz or 3inciaz
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Condicien
The building is in excellent condition, and is leased for office space.
Site

The Land Bank Building has been witness to the dynamics of the rapidiy changing Central
Business District. When originally constructed, the Land Bank Building was located be-
tween two buildings. An alley separated the Land Bank Building and the building to the
east. That building at the southwest. corner of West 10th Streer and Main was the Roths-
child's Clothing Company, constructed in 1920. The building rose to a height of four
stories. Rothschild's was demolished in 1982 and is now the site of a surface parking lot.

The New England Bank Building at 21 West 10th Street occupies the lot immediately west of
the Land Bank Building. When originally constructed in 1907 the building was three stories
in height. The Land Bank Building deliberately takes some of its architectural cues from
the building, particularly the prominent round arches of the main facade with its carved
relief eagle above the centerbay, and the ashlar blocks used in the facing.

In 1930 the New England Bank Building received a twelve story addition, so that its height
surpasses the Land Bank's fourteen stories. The two buildings do compliment each other in
their scale, materials and ornament.

NOTES

1. The Western Contractor, August 1, 1923, p.36.

2. George Fhrlich, Kansas City, Missouri An Architectural History 1826-1976,
(Kansas City: Historic Kansas City Foundation, 1979 ,p.83.

3. Ibid, p.89.

4. "The Land Bank Building - Kansas Citv, Missouri', (Kansas City: Xansas City
Finance Company, 1924) n.p.




8. Significance

Period Areas of Significance—Check and justify below
—— prehisteric ___ archeology-prehistoric ___ community planning ___ landscape architecture____ religion
. 1400-1499 ___ archeology-historic ____ conservation — law — science
— 1500-1589 _x agriculture X economics — . literature — - sculpture
— 1600-169% _X_ architecture _— education — military — social/
—___ 17001799 __ . att _ . engineering — _ music hurmanitarian
1800-1898 ___ commerce ___ explorationysettlement ___ philosophy —— theater
£ _ 1900~ —_ communications _— Industry — politics/government  ____ transpertation
— invention — other {specify)
Specific dates 1923-24 : Builder/Architect Bickel Co (builder)/XKeene & Simpson (archts.

Statement of Siagnificance [in one paragraph)

The Land Bank Building at 15 West 10th Street is one of the cornerstone buildings of the
city's financial district. The Xansas City Joint Stock Land Bank, for whom the building
was constructed in 1524, was the fifch in the country that received a Charter under the
Federal Farm Loan Act. The Act, created in 1916 during the administration of President
Wocdraw Wilson, gave Federal guarantees of loans to farmers who had previously been the
victims of widely different and sometimes usurious loan policies. The building erected
to nouse the Land Bank was designed specially for the requirements of the banking com-
munity. Architects Keene and Simpson designed a most distinctive building which had an
extremely narrow frontage. Their solution to the available space probiem was to erect
the slim, but tall building, creating mezzanine levels on both the first and twelfth floors
thus adapting the space to the special needs of the tenant banking facilities. Their de-
sign was inspired by Italian Renaissance architecture, and was so appealing that it re-
ceived the 1924 Business District’'s Gold Medal. The building weathered a tumultuous
scandal when the Land Bank was placed in Federal receivorship in 1927, and has been con-
tinously occupied throughout its history,

The Federal Farm Loan Act and the Establishment of Land Banks:

The history of agriculture in the United States in some ways reflects the activity generated
by other forms of commerce, particularly the transportation system. As westward expansion
increased, farmers found it necessary to locate near by, or have access to tramsportation so
that they could ship their goods to markets in the East. As a result, settlement in the
prairie states generally followed the railway lines. The number of farms that existed in the
late 19th Century showed an astronomical increase, as they parallel the burgeoning settlement
patterns throughout the Western states. There were over four million in the United States by
1880, as compared to 2.6 million in 1870.1%

As the numbers of acres of farmland increased so did the necessity for mechanized farm equip-
ment. The costs to purchase that equipment led the farmers to take out loans, often pledging
the crops they would sow as collateral, Lending among private interests was at best irregu-
lar, as the very nature of farming with its reliance on the capriousness of nature for the
success of the harvest, tended to make the loan less desirable to the banker. Thus rhe farme
sometimes sufferad usurious banking practices to secure his loan. It rapidly became zpparent
mhat the zovarnment would need <o intercede om behalf of the farmer, if the farming fndustity
in this country was o survive.

175

e farmer’s lot improved considerably during the vears of the Wilson and Taft administra-—

L

Siong, as Soth promulgated Isrm nolicises that wers instrumental in incra2asing the farmer’'s
securicy. IZ was 3lso during chese vears that the Zongress signaled ctheir sympathy Zo the
£ ii hthhrcugh imer=asingiy aigher aporopriaricms to zhe United 3tates Denartment
! 2.- ITa 911, tha2 oelizics 37 larmine Hecame 30 imporsant shat 2ach 2T ths

o tiss included scme form of agrizulzural r2iiaf in their pliz<orms.-
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In 1914 under the administration of Republican William Howard Taft, the Agricultural
Extension Act was passed. This act, among its other provisicns, established farm
demonst;ation agents in each of the 2,850 rural communities throughout the United
States.” Under Democratic President Woodrow Wilson, elected in 1916, the country
would see further important agricultural prowmotions,

The Federal Farm Loan Act, passad in 1916, established twelwve Land Banks throughout

the country. These banks could loan money to ccoperative farm-loan associates which
were made up of farmers wanting fo borrow. The f{armer would give a mortgage ou his

real estate to the association, which then deposited the mortgage with the Land Bank,
Private investors were to subscribe the initial capital of the Land Bank, and the
government pledged to make up any deficiencv. Additional funds would be secured by

the sale of tax-exempt bonds secured bv the mortgages held by the Land Banks. The
Federal Loan Beard which consisted of the Secretary of Agriculture and four presidential
appointees, were to supervise the program.S

At first private capital was suspicious, depositing only $200,00C of the necessary
9 million, but their capital steadily increased so that by 1930 the government had
disposed of much of its stock. 1In 1930 local farm associations numbered 4,659,
while the Federazl Farm Land Banks held about one billion dollars in farm mertgages.
By 1928 the Federal Farm Loan Act and its system of Land Banks offering loans of
longer terms, and lower interest rates insured that America was a leader in the
agricultural field.b

Walter S. Cravens and the History of the Kansas City Land Bank Building

The erection of the Land Bank Building in Kansas City was due to the efforts of
Walter S. Cravens, a financial entrepreneur. Cravens was raised in Salina,

Kansas where his father R. P. Cravens established a loan business in 1878. Walter
Cravens came to Kansas City with the establishment of the Kansas City Land Bank,

and served as its President. In addition Cravens was President of the Missouri
Joint Stock Land Bank, Director of the Safe Deposit Company of Xamnsas City, Director
of the Denver Joint Stock Land Bank, and the Director of the American Underwriting
Company.7

Cravens quickiv parlayed his companies' business assets inco nearly five million
dollars. However, Cravens' lcan practices which 2nabled his metezoric rise to

sinc 3tock Land 3ank
00.000 in stocks.®
- . . .

success sooun 3pe
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system. It will have no real estate. 1Its assets will be in selected hand-picked
loans in good standing backed by a guarantee of three years" 12

The building functioned as a headquarters for the Land Bank until 1943, when it‘was
purchased by the Fruehauf family of Detroit as an investment. The purchase price

of the building was reportedly $300,000. 1In 1950 the building was resold, this

time to Richard R. Riss, a trucking company executive, In 1951 Riss formally changed
the name of the building to the "Riss Building".l3

In 1958 the building was sold to W. D. Fulton & Associates for a price of $750,000.

The Riss Truck Lines continued to maintain offices in the building. Today the .
building is known as the "Hanover Building', and has been renovated for office suites.

The Land Bank Building: Its Lecation and Special Features

The selection of Kansas City as the location for a federally chartered farm loan bank,
was based principally on two factors. First, Kansas City was located in the heart of
the farming region and second, Kansas City had already established itself as a front-
runner in the location of Federal offices. 1In 1914 a Federal Reserve Bank was opened.
The competition for the location was keen, with St. Louis as a major rival. Kansas
City was ultimately the winner, based on its growing number of bank transactions.l®

By 1921 Kansas City's downtown brokerage and banking district was the hub of a financial
center that ranked fifth in volume of bank clearings.l3 The vicinity of 10th and
Baltimore evolved as the "heart" of the financial center. The buildings located in the
immediate area in 1924 include: The Federal Reserve Bank at the northeast corner of
10th and Grand; the People's Trust Company located in the R. A. Long building at the
northwest corner of 10th and Grand; Kansas City Title and Trust Company at the north-
east corner of 10th and Walnut; The Commerce Trust Company at 922 Walnut; the First
National Bank at the northeast corner of 10th and Baltimore; the New England Bank at the
southeast corner of 10th and Baltimore; and the Pioneer Trust Company at 1016 Baltimeore.
Coincidentally, in 1924 the 'new" Board of Trade Building was under comstruction at the

southeast corner of 10th and Wyandotte, further evidence of the booming agricultural
aconomy .

The Kansas City Joint Stock Land Bank, which in 1917 had been granted the fifth F
Chart=ar to operate, was originaily named the Libertv Joint Stock Land 3ank. Wwalt
Cravens 1its Iounder, changed the aame and moved into facilities at 13 West 10th 3
That Duilding was two stories ip heighe, and was aec-cizssizal Za its design. z
razed to make room for the present building.i6

The necessicv [or cthe physical expansion of the Land 3ank sazems not only o have come
from the 2urgzeoning rfarm 2conomy, but 2lso because of 2 Missouri Law that oronibicsd
. P P 17 ’ 5 . - . - : T .
orzacl tanking activicies, - 273uge the dank 3 7olume 3I transacticons incrzased

) 4
dramaticaily during zhe =2arlv vears of che '20's, ranking -he bank the seccond lLargest
2% Ics wind ia zhe nation, neaded spaca, -3 The bulidize Hesigned 3V
Y2ene 3inad 3impscn was <ons o iremencs In oind. ,The Huilidiacz tousad
sevarzl majer Iimancial or 5 I3 acher Za:zangs.




COMB No. 1029~0018
Exp. W3- 44

NPS Form 10-900-a
<]

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

Mational Register of Historic Places
Inventory—Momination Form

Continuation sheet Land Bank Building item number 8

The $300,000 building was finished with rich waterials such as mzhogany and marble,

and great attention was paid to furnishing conveniences.l9 For example the build-

ing was equipped with a filtered and cooled drinking water system and venetian blinds.
The Kansas City Finance Company which marketed the securities of the Land Bank occupied
the first floor. The banking room had a 21 foot ceiling. The banking cages were lo-
cated on the west side of the rogm, and the President's room and quarters for the
officers were on the east side.® The Safe Deposit Company of Kansas City '"...the old-
est safe deposit organizatioca in the city..." was located in the hasement.?! The vault
{(which still remains todav), was securad by a circular door, twelve inches thick, and
eighty inches in diameter.2é

The twelfth floor and mezzanine wers occupied by the Kansas City and Missouri Joint Stock
Land Banks. This spacious area with its tall windows which admitted ample natural light
contained the main banking room, a reception room, the President's office, and other
private offices. It was the first bankigg room in the United States built for the
special use of a Joint Stock Land Bank.2

The Architects: Keene and Simpson

Arthur 5. Keene, (1876-1966) and Leslie B, Simpson, (1885-1961), began their partnership
in 1909, Arthur Keene was a native of Brighton, Massachusetts, and graduated from M.I.T.
in 1898. He came to Kansas City in 1907.24 - '

Leslie Simpson, was born in Calhoun, Missouri and came to Kansas City in 1902. Simpson
began his career with the distinguished firm of Howe, Hoit, and Cutler.25

Both Keene and Simpson were active in civie and professional circles. Simpson was Pre-
sident of the Architectural League of Kansas City in 1930, and from 1930-40 was President
of the Kansas City Chapter of the American Institute of Architects.26 Arthur Keene had
also served as President of the local chapter of the AIA, and was a member of the Insti-
tute's College of Fellows from 1938 until his death. In 1955 the firm added principal
John T. Murphy, becoming Keene and Simpson and Murphy.

The team designed some of Kansas City's most distinguished buildings which included:
The neo-clagsical Scottish Rite Temple at Liunwcod and The Paseo (1929); the original
St. Lukes Hospital (1920); and the Jackson County Court House (with architects Wight
and Wight) (1934).° —

The firm also receiwved numerous commissicns sSucrside of Xansas City which included: che
Chrisciazn Church of Ciincon, Missour:z 1911}, the Carnegis Librayy in Lyundoun, Xansas

oy f . 4 - . — i . - o gy 27

{1910); znd the Hall of Waters in Excelsior 3prings (1937).-

The surveyv of Misscuri's historic sit on the selection of sites as they relata
Lo zheme studies in "Misscuri’s 3tats Hiscoric Praservation Plan’”. The Land 3ank 3uilc-
i{ng, theratfore, 13z being nominacted to the Yacticpal Regiscer is 2n exampie of the themes
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NOTES

1. Ed Edwin, Feast or Famine:Food, Farming and Farm Politics in America, {(New York:
Charterhouse, 1974), pp. 270-1,

2. Oscar T. Barck Jr. and Manfred B. Nelson, Since 1900: A History of the United
States in Our Times, (New York: MacMillan Company, 1974), p.ll3.

3, Feast or Famine, p.302.

4. Since 1900, p.302.
5. Since 1900, pp.118-189

6. Feast or Famine, p.302.

7. Walter P. Tracy, Kansas City and its Cne Hundred Foremost Men, (n.p.: n.p.,
n.d.), p.79.

3. '"Land Bank Reborn", Kansas City Star, June 4, 1931, p.l.

9. 1Ibid.
10, Ibid.
11. 1Ibid.
12, 1Ibid.
13. "Downtown Office Structure Gets a New Name", Kansas City Star, December 30, 1950.

14. Sherry Lamb Schirmer and Richard D. McKinzie, At the River's Bend (Marceline
{(Missouri): Windsor Publications Inc., 1982), 0.238

15, TIbid.

14, Y"The Land 3ank Building”, Xansas Citv, Missourl {Yansas City Finance Company:

{ansas Cicy, 1924} n.p.

t7. At the Riwver's 3end, ©v. 238.

'3, Xansas Cirv and its Cne Hundrsd Foremost Men., 2.:9.

2. The Westarn Contracter, Auguso ., 1223, 3.6,
2. 'The Lama 3ank 3uildiag™, a.p.
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2L, The Land 3ank 3uilding”,
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22, 1Ibid,.

23. Kansas City Star, February 24, 1924, n.p.

24, "Skylines', June/July 1966, p.10.

25. "Leslie B. Simpson Dies', Kansas City Star, December 15, 1961, n.p.

26, TIbid,

27. '"Keene & Simpson", unpublished files, Landmarks Commission cof Kansas City, Missouri.




9. Major Bibliographical Referenees

Barck, Oscar T. Jr., and Nelson, Manfred B. Since 1900: A History of the United Stated in
OQur Times. New York: MacMillan Company, 1974.

Edwin, Ed, Feast or Famine: Food, Farming and Farm Politics in Am€r1ca. New York: Charter-
House, 1974.

10. Geograph:cal Data

Acreage of nominated property 1ess than 1 acre
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Verbal boundary description and justification

Lot 4, Block 10, Ashburns Addltion a subdivision located in Kansas City, Jackson County,
Missouri ' - -
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